66,156

SID J. WHITE

CLERK, SUPREME WURE

4

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.

JESSIE JOSEPH TAFERO,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

WEINER, ROBBINS, TUNKEY & ROSS, P.A. 2250 S.W. 3rd Avenue Miami, Florida 33129 Telephone: (305) 858-9550

GREENE & COOPER, P.A. 500 Roberts Building 28 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 Telephone: (305) 371-1597

INTRODUCTION

Defendant/Appellant JESSIE JOSEPH TAFERO will be referred to as he stood before the trial court and as TAFERO. Plaintiff/Appellee STATE OF FLORIDA will be referred to as the State.

"T", with the volume number, refers to portions of the transcript of TAFERO's original trial. "R" refers to portions of the original record on TAFERO's appeal to this court from his judgment and death sentence. "SR" refers to portions of the supplemental record on that appeal. "P" refers to portions of the record in the post-conviction proceedings below. "H" refers to portions of the hearing transcript on TAFERO's motion to vacate pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850.

"A" refers to the appendix filed together with this brief. That appendix includes TAFERO's Rule 3.850 motion, his amendments to that motion, and the original trial testimony of Hyman, MacKenzie and Rhodes, the key trial witnesses.

م سورید در این این می این این در د

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an appeal from the trial court's denial of TAFERO's motion to vacate his conviction and death sentence. The Governor signed a warrant for TAFERO's execution on November 2, 1984. That execution is scheduled for November 29, 1984. This is TAFERO's first warrant.

Background. TAFERO was convicted and sentenced to death on May 18, 1976. He had been charged with four counts of premeditated murder, robbery and kidnapping. TAFERO appealed to this Court. This Court affirmed his conviction on June 11, 1981. 403 So.2d 355 (Fla. 1981). He then filed a petition for writ of certiorari in the Supreme Court of the United States seeking review of this Court's decision. The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on February 22, 1982. <u>Tafero v. Florida</u>, 455 U.S. 983, 102 S.Ct. 1492, <u>rehearing denied</u> 456 U.S. 939, 102 S.Ct. 2000 (1982). Otherwise TAFERO has not previously filed any petitions, applications or motions in the state trial court.^{1/}

On November 9, 1982, TAFERO filed in this Court a Motion for Leave to File a Petition for Writ of Error Coram Nobis based on newly discovered evidence. This Court denied the petition, with two justices dissenting. 440 So.2d 350 (Fla. 1983). TAFERO sought review in the United States Supreme Court. That court denied certiorari on March 5, 1984. <u>Tafero v. Florida</u>, 104 S.Ct. 1456 (1984).

<u>Facts underlying the conviction</u>. On March 3, 1975, a four count indictment was filed against TAFERO, Sonia Jacobs Linder and Walter Norman Rhodes, Jr., charging

^{1/} While his direct appeal to this Court was pending, TAFERO, along with numerous other death-sentenced appellants, filed an Application for Extraordinary Relief and Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in this Court challenging this Court's practice of reviewing, <u>ex parte</u>, non-record information concerning capital appellants' mental health status and personal backgrounds. This Court denied relief on January 15, 1981. <u>Brown v.</u> Wainwright, 392 So.2d 1327 (Fla. 1981). The Supreme Court of the United States declined to review that decision by writ of certiorari. <u>Brown v. Wainwright</u>, 454 U.S. 1000, 102 S.Ct. 542 (1981). No evidentiary hearing was ever held on those proceedings.

them with the first degree murders of Phillip A. Black and Donald Robert Irwin, theft of a firearm and motor vehicle from Black, and the abduction of Leonard Levinson.

This incident began at a rest stop on I-95 in Broward County where TAFERO, Linder, her two children and Rhodes had pulled over to sleep. Early in the morning they were awakened by Black, a state trooper, looking into the car. He noticed a gun between the seats, opened the front door and took the gun. He then began questioning Rhodes, TAFERO and Linder. The events which followed and culminated in the shooting of the state trooper and Irwin, a visiting Canadian officer, were in substantial conflict at trial.

Three primary witnesses testified at TAFERO's trial concerning the shooting. Two of those witnesses were disinterested and independent. They were truck drivers who pulled into the rest area and parked about 125–150 feet behind the trooper's car. They watched almost the entire sequence of events. Each of them testified that the Canadian officer was holding TAFERO up against the trooper's car with his arm pinned behind his back at the time the shots were fired. The third witness was Rhodes, the co-defendant who testified in return for the State's agreement not to seek the death penalty against him. Rhodes testified that Sonia Linder fired a series of shots from the rear seat of the Camaro. TAFERO then ran over to her, took the gun and fired the remaining shots. Neither of the truck drivers saw any such actions by TAFERO. TAFERO was convicted of first degree murder.^{2/}

The evidence at trial as to the shooting was as follows:

Robert McKenzie, a truck driver, pulled into a rest area for a 15 minute break in his route. (T-III. 61-62). He pulled in behind the trooper's car which was parked to, and about six feet away from, the Camaro. (T-III. 63). He saw the trooper talking to

 $^{^{2/}}$ The same trial judge who sentenced TAFERO sentenced Jacobs to death, but her sentence was reversed by this Court. <u>Jacobs v. State</u>, 396 So.2d 713 (Fla. 1981). Thus, although three persons were involved in this incident, only TAFERO now faces the death penalty.

TAFERO who was standing next to the open driver's door of the Camaro. (T-III. 64-65). Rhodes was standing in front of the Camaro. Rhodes began to move, but the trooper directed him to move back. (T-III. 68). TAFERO pointed to the bushes and walked over to a tree nearby. (T-III. 69). He then walked back and began talking to the trooper. He sat down in the driver's seat, then stood up again. (T-III. 71). He seemed angry. He pulled a suitcase from the car. (T-III. 72). The trooper took it and put it in the back seat of the trooper's car. (T-III. 72-73). At that point another truck pulled up.^{3/} (T-III. 73).

McKenzie pulled slowly out of the rest stop because his break was over. (T-III. 73). As he pulled away, he continued to watch in his rear view mirror. He saw the trooper begin to pat down TAFERO. TAFERO jumped, the trooper swung and a scuffle started. (T-III. 75). The trooper shoved TAFERO against the trooper's car, the Canadian came over, held TAFERO's left arm up behind his back, pushed him over the hood and held him there. The trooper backed off a few feet and pulled his gun. Rhodes walked around to the back of the Camaro on the passenger side. Then he wandered to the driver's side. (T-III. 76).

Meanwhile, the trooper went to the driver's side of his car, leaned in and called on the radio. (T-III. 78). As he came back around the car, he noticed Rhodes moved. He swung at him. Rhodes put his hands up and returned to the passenger side of the Camaro. (T-III. 78). McKenzie began pulling out on the highway. (T-III. 81). He suddenly heard fast shots. He looked in his mirror. The trooper fell instantly; the Canadian officer fell right behind him. Rhodes ran to the trooper's car. TAFERO turned around <u>after</u> the shots were fired. (T-III. 81).

McKenzie said that Rhodes had his hands in the air while the five shots were fired. (T-III. 81). At the time of the shots, the Canadian officer was holding TAFERO with his arm bent behind his back over the hood of the trooper's car. (T-III. 81, 94).

 $^{^{3/}}$ This was the truck driven by Pierce Hyman, the other witness.

TAFERO did not turn around until <u>after</u> the shots were fired and <u>after</u> the officers fell to the ground.

- Q: Did you see what the guy in the brown jacket [TAFERO] was doing?
- A: All I could see was his head and his shoulders, like he turned around.
- Q: He turned around during the shots, or before the shots?
- A: He turned around after the shots were fired.

(T-III. 81).

- Q. It was at that point, as I understand, it, and again, you correct me now, Bobby, if I am wrong, this is at the period of time when the man with the brown jacket and the tan pants [TAFERO] was up near, or against, the trooper's car; and the fellow with the white T-shirt [the Canadian constable] was behind him?
- A. Right.
- Q. And, had ahold of him?
- A. He had ahold of him.
- Q. He had his arm bent up behind his back?
- A. One arm up behind his back.
- Q: You are indicating the left arm?
- A: Right.
- Q. Then, it was at this period of time, as I understand it, that you heard the shots going, when everybody was in that posture?
- A. Yes; maybe about a second.
- Q: But, those people were situated just as you have now explained to me?
- A: Yes.
- Q. The man in the brown jacket and tan pants [TAFERO], as I understand it, according to what you just told the jury, then, <u>after the shots were fired</u>, turned around?
- A. Yeah.

Zant v. Stephens, 103 S.Ct. 2733 (1983)	30,31
Zeigler v. State, 452 So.2d 537 (Fla. 1984)	50
Other Authorities	
Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850	1,9,25

- Q. Did you see what he did then?
- A. No; I didn't see. I know he turned around, and the guy in the blue [Rhodes] ran through them, and went to the officer's car.

(T-III. 94-95). After the shooting stopped, Rhodes ran to the trooper's car and got in the driver's seat. (T-III. 81, 95).

Pierce Hyman pulled into the rest area shortly after McKenzie. He pulled his truck up parallel to McKenzie's but a bit closer to the trooper's car. (T-III. 18, 19). He saw the trooper bent over the open door of the Camaro as if he were looking for something inside. (T-III. 21). He then saw the trooper walk back to his own car, open the driver's door and apparently speak on the radio. (T-III. 24-25). The trooper then walked back to the door of the Camaro where TAFERO had been sitting in the driver's seat. (T-III. 25). TAFERO had gotten out when the trooper went to the radio, gone around the front of the Camaro, walked over to the grass and stretched. (T-III. 25). He came back and appeared to lean against the Camaro's fender. (T-III. 28). When the trooper returned, they appeared to exchange angry words and the trooper grabbed TAFERO by the shoulder. He grabbed his arm and twisted it up behind his back. The Canadian came over, took TAFERO's bent arm and pushed TAFERO over the hood of the trooper's car. The trooper stepped back and pulled his gun. (T-III. 29). The trooper swung his gun back and forth between TAFERO and Rhodes and Rhodes raised his hands. (T-III. 30). Rhodes was still in front of the Camaro.

As the trooper began to turn toward the Camaro, Hyman heard a shot. The trooper lost his balance, regained it, then Hyman heard several shots in rapid succession. (T-III. 31). Rhodes' hands were still in the air; he appeared to have nothing in his hands. He saw no gun other than the trooper's. After the first shot, he saw TAFERO and the Canadian officer scuffling. (T-III. 32). The shots appeared to come from the back of the Camaro. When he heard the rapid shots, he saw the Canadian officer fall. Rhodes got in

-6-

the driver's seat of the patrol car. (T-III. 33). TAFERO, Linder and the children followed. (T-III. 34).

<u>Rhodes' story at trial</u>. Rhodes, TAFERO and Linder were traveling to West Palm Beach and decided to stop and sleep in the car overnight at the rest stop. Rhodes was in the driver's seat. He was awakened early in the morning by a state trooper looking into the window. (T-IV. 267). The police car was parked parallel to the Camaro about six feet away. (T-IV. 268). The trooper opened the driver's door and pulled a gun out from between the seats where Rhodes had placed it. (T-IV. 269). The trooper returned to his own car and got on the radio. (T-IV. 272, 273). There was another man with him in plain clothes who simply stood toward the rear between the two cars. The trooper returned and asked Rhodes about his parole. (T-IV. 275). He then told Rhodes to get out of the car and stand in front of the patrol car, which he did. (T-IV. 276).

The trooper then began talking to TAFERO. TAFERO gave him a false name and said he had no identification. The trooper then asked for Linder's identification. (T-IV. 278). She began rifling through her purse. The trooper leaned in and began going through her purse with her. He found a baggie of marijuana in there and threw it on the ground. (T-IV. 279). Then he pulled an empty shoulder holster out which he saw in the car between Linder's legs. He ordered everyone out of the car with their weapons. (T-IV. 280).

TAFERO began moving very slowly out of the front seat. The officer reached in and grabbed him as if to help him out. They began scuffling. (T-IV. 281). The trooper pushed him up against the trooper's car, with one hand behind him. The Canadian officer then held TAFERO while the trooper pulled out his gun. (T-IV. 281). The trooper began waving his gun back and forth and Rhodes put up his hands. (T-IV. 283). He turned to face away, but periodically looked back to see what was going on. He turned and saw the trooper on the radio on the passenger side of the car. (T-IV. 284). He turned again and saw the trooper scuffling again with TAFERO. (T-IV. 285). He did not notice what the Canadian officer was doing at that time. He turned away again and heard two shots, the

-7-

second one much louder than the first. He turned around to see. (T-IV. 286).

The trooper was standing there as if frozen. Linder had a gun in her hand and looked scared. TAFERO darted over to her, scuffled for the gun, grabbed it and shot at the officers. (T-IV. 286, 287). Rhodes said he heard four distinct shots, then two more shots at the Canadian officer. (T-IV. 288).

Rhodes began to walk back to the Camaro, but TAFERO told him to take the trooper's car. (T-IV. 289). Rhodes turned and got in the driver's seat. All the shooting had ended at the point when TAFERO announced that they were taking the trooper's car. (T-IV. 303).

In sum, the evidence as to whether TAFERO pulled the trigger was in substantial conflict between two independent and disinterested witnesses who said he did not and a codefendant who testified to avoid the death penalty who said he did. Without Rhodes' testimony, the evidence does not establish beyond a reasonable doubt that TAFERO shot anyone.

<u>The Penalty Phase of the Trial</u>. At the penalty phase of the trial, the State introduced evidence of TAFERO's prior criminal conviction. In response, Mr. McCain, TAFERO's court-appointed lawyer, did nothing. He put on <u>no</u> evidence on TAFERO's behalf in mitigation of the death penalty:

THE COURT: Does the defendant have any evidence at all that they would like to present?

MR. McCAIN: No evidence, judge.

(SR. 47). The prosecutor then made an extended argument about why the death penalty should be imposed against TAFERO. Again, McCain did nothing in response. He did not make the slightest effort to persuade the jury to recommend life imprisonment instead of the death penalty. To the contrary, his "argument" to the jurors was intended to alienate them. In substance he asked them to impose the death penalty. This was McCain's entire "argument":

-8-

MR. McCAIN: May it please the Court, and the ladies and gentlemen of the jury. I will be very brief here today, in that I have consulted with Jessie Tafero, and he feels very strongly that he did not receive a fair trial.

He feels very strongly that this verdict was not fair, and he feels that to participate in the sentencing argument in any way, would be a charade.

He will not beg for his life, nor mercy.

Thank you.

(SR. 54). The trial court made no effort to determine whether TAFERO personally agreed to this "argument" which directly invited the jury to return a recommendation of death. Having received this "argument", the jury did the only thing it was asked to do and recommended the death penalty. The trial court imposed the death penalty.

<u>The evidence at the Rule 3.850 hearing</u>. The trial court granted TAFERO an evidentiary hearing on his motion for post conviction relief a week after he filed his motion. The court heard the testimony of numerous witnesses.

<u>McCain's testimony</u>. TAFERO was represented at his trial by court-appointed counsel, Robert McCain. McCain was convicted on both state and federal charges after TAFERO's trial. The primary charge on the federal offense was obstruction of justice. The primary charge on the state offense was a narcotics conspiracy. The federal charge arose out of his attempt to bribe an ex-client as a witness in a case. He was sentenced to a lengthy prison term. He has been under automatic suspension from the Florida Bar because of the felony conviction. McCain thinks that he has been disbarred. (H. 25-26).

McCain was appointed to represent TAFERO on March 9, 1976. (R. 6).^{4/} McCain could not recall how many prior death penalty cases he had handled. (H. 29).^{5/} At the least, he had represented William Elledge, who had entered a guilty plea on McCain's

 $^{^{4/}}$ McCain thought that he therefore had six weeks before trial. (H. 30). In fact it was a bit over two months.

⁵/ McCain response to the vast majority of questions put to him was "I cannot recall".

advice and then received the death penalty. (H. 29). McCain could not remember what his case load was at the time he represented TAFERO, whether it was busy or not. (H. 30). McCain submitted a sworn petition for attorney's fees on May 25, only a week after he completed his representation at trial. The petition is notable for it brevity. It states that McCain: (1) "conducted extensive interviews with Defendant to prepare"; (2) "thoroughly prepared for trial"; (3) "thoroughly interviewed and deposed many of the State's witnesses", the codefendant Linder and members of Defendant's family; (4) researched; and (5) "drafted voir dire" and "reviewed jury instructions". He concluded by stating that he had spent "in excess of 100 hours" on the case. Since the trial lasted six days, this meanth that he spent somewhere around 50 hours in pretrial preparation. The court awarded \$1,500 as a fee.

McCain also submitted a request for reimbursement of costs. He requested reimbursement for one subpoena to the sheriff's office. He requested \$561.75 for the time of an investigator, Don Pearce, who worked from April 1 through May 11, 1976. The remainder of the approximately \$2,700 cost request covers only copies of 23 depositions.

McCain said he saw TAFERO in the Broward County jail on a number of occasions. He did not remember how often. He did not remember for how long. (H. 31). $^{6/}$

McCain claimed that he consulted with TAFERO on everything he did, including the penalty phase of the trial. However he "had no recollection of the specifics of the conversation". (H. 63). He knew that he was not limited in the presentation of mitigating evidence on TAFERO's behalf. "If I had anything to present, I would have attempted to present it". (H. 60). Yet he <u>admitted</u> that he did nothing in preparation for sentencing phase:

 $^{^{6/}}$ McCain said the record would reflect how often he had been to the jail, although it might not be completely accurate because he had also visited with other clients during that same time period. (H. 31). Unfortunately, the jail visitation records were destroyed in 1981. (H. 257).

- Q: What had you done to prepare for sentencing?
- A: Went over the entire matter with Jessie and we concluded then not to put on any witnesses.
- Q: Did you issue a single subpoena to any possible defense witness.
- A: No, sir.
- Q: Did you talk to any possible defense witness?
- A: No, sir.
- Q: Did you file a list of any possible defense witnesses?
- A: No, sir. Not to my knowledge.

(H. 60-61).

- Q: Is it fair to say you did no independent—Jessie not having come forward with any people to present in his defense, that you did nothing to find them on your own?
- A: To find those people that you just named?
- Q: <u>Anyone</u> who would come forward and say anything about him at the sentencing hearing.
- A: That's correct.

(H. 79-80). In sum, McCain simply relied on TAFERO to determine who the relevant witnesses might be. Since TAFERO did not suggest particular individuals to him, $^{7/}$ he did nothing on his own. $^{8/}$

 $^{8/}$ For example:

- Q: Did you do anything to find out what he might have done while he was in jail to rehabilitate himself and to show to someone that he was not such a bad fellow?
- A: <u>No, sir</u>.

^{7&#}x27; McCain admitted that TAFERO did not <u>refuse</u> to give him names. (H. 40). TAFERO simply could not come up with names of people who <u>TAFERO</u> thought were relevant. But that is the job of the lawyer, not the client. Here, <u>McCain left</u> it to his client to determine what was relevant and important.

⁽H. 114). As outlined in the evidentiary hearing, such beneficial evidence could have (footnote continued)

McCain's attempt to justify his "argument" in penalty phase. He explained that his purpose was to "tone down" the sentencing proceedings. According to McCain, his argument, made <u>after</u> all evidence in the sentencing phase had been introduced, was somehow designed to keep the state from introducing more evidence:

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