IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JESSIE JOSEPH TAFERO,	>
Appellant,)
v.) CASE NO. 66,156
STATE OF FLORIDA,))
Appellee.	SID J. WHITE NOV SO 1934
	CLERK, SUPREME COURT Chief Deputy Clerk

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH Attorney General Tallahassee, FL 32301

JOY B. SHEARER Assistant Attorney General

PENNY H. BRILL Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue, Room 204 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE IMPOSITION OF THE DEATH PENALTY IN THIS CASE DOES NOT VIOLATE THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT, WHERE THE JURY WAS INSTRUCTED THAT BEFORE FINDING APPELLANT GUILTY OF FIRST DEGREE MURDER, THEY HAD TO FIND THAT APPELLANT, HIMSELF, KILLED, ATTEMPTED TO KILL, OR INTENDED THAT A KILLING TAKE PLACE, AND BY THEIR VERDICT OF GUILTY, SUCH A FINDING WAS MADE.

The Appellant alleges that the imposition of the death penalty in this case is unconstitutional in light of Enmund v. Florida, 458 U.S. 782 (1982), where the jury returned a general verdict, making no finding that Appellant, himself, killed anyone, attempted to kill anyone or intended that a killing take place. In conjunction with that allegation, the Appellant asserts that the death penalty was unconstitutionally imposed because the standard jury instructions allowed the jury to consider imposition of the death penalty under the circumstances prohibited by Enmund. Appellee submits that Appellant's contentions are clearly without support and merit.

a. The guilt phase instructions, as carried into the penalty phase, required the jury to find that Appellant, himself, killed, attempted to kill or intended that a killing take place.

In Enmund v. Florida, supra, the United States Supreme Court held that the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments were violated by the imposition of the death penalty on the defendant, who aided and abetted a felony in the course of which a murder was committed by others but who did not himself kill, attempt to

kill, intend to kill, or contemplate that life would be taken. The facts of the instant case makes Enmund totally inapplicable. In Enmund, the defendant was the driver of a getaway car to be used after a robbery. During the course of the robbery of an elderly couple at their farmhouse, the wife came out of the house when her husband cried for help and shot one of the robbers. Both the husband and wife were then shot by the robbers. was sentenced to death for his role as a principal of the second degree, constructively present aiding and abetting the commission of the crime of robbery. This Court affirmed. In reversing, the Supreme Court stated that "(i)t was thus irrelevant to Enmund's challenge to the death sentence that he did not himself kill and was not present at the killings; also beside the point was whether he intended that the Kerseys [the victims] be killed or anticipated that lethal force would or might be used if necessary to effectuate the robbery or a safe escape." 458 U.S. at 788. The Court concluded that imposition of the death penalty in these circumstances was inconsistent with the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments. Id. at 801. Enmund does not stand for the proposition that only a "triggerman" may receive the death penalty and/or that a special jury finding is required.

Initially, the Appellee would point out that contrary to Appellant's assertions, the prosecutor did not argue that Appellant should be found guilty of first degree murder regardless of who did the shooting. For this Court's convenience, Appellee has set out in context, the prosecutor's argument in

which he refers to the felony murder rule:

Rhodes didn't do it. What does he have to gain by telling you that Tafero and Linder did it? He has three life sentences to serve.

Do you know why he has three life sentences to serve? Because what he told you from that witness stand makes him guilty of murder and kidnapping, and I am going to tell you why.

You will remember, in the beginning on voir dire, I asked several of you, 'Have you ever heard of the felony murder rule?' The felony murder rule, as his Honor, Judge Futch, is going to instruct you, is that when there is a felony being committed, or attempting to be committed, all parties involved in that felony are guilty of murder, even if an innocent bystander, or an innocent person, is killed during the commission of that felony.

So, if a person is killed during the commission of a felony, or one of the eight numerated felonies -- of which robbery is one -- all parties are guilty of first degree murder, no matter whether they pull the trigger, or stood there.

(R. VIII 3.90)

Thus, when reviewed in context, it is obvious that the prosecutor

was referring to the felony murder rule as it related to Rhodes' culpability, not the Appellant's.²

In addition, the statement referred to by Appellant at p. 24 of his brief, is also taken out of context. In context, the statement appears as follows:

This further reinforced by the prosecutor's argument at R. IX 412.

Maybe I am belaboring these points, because it took me five days to present all that evidence to you. You listened, and at times, maybe you were getting annoyed at me introducing all that evidence; but it's so important for you to take that back, and look at it.

It doesn't matter, ladies and gentlemen, who first put the gun on Mr. Levinson. It doesn't matter at all.

If two guys go into a 7-11, and one blows the store clerk away, if he shoots the store clerk, they are both guilty of felony murder. It doesn't matter who fired the weapon, they are both responsible.

If two guys go into another 7-11, and they don't shoot him, but they hold him up; the one who goes to the register is just as guilty as the one who holds the gun on the clerk, if there is a gun.

(R. IX 417)³

Again, when reviewed in context, the prosecutor was referring to the kidnapping of Mr. Levinson, after the murders, and not the murders themselves. The kidnapping charge was not the predicate felony for the felony-murder charge. A review of the prosecutor's argument in its entirety shows that the prosecutor was arguing that Appellant's liability for the murders was based on Appellant, himself, being the shooter (whether from a premeditated state or in conjunction with the robbery), and not on the basis of vicarious liability for any co-defendant's actions.

Appellant's reference to T-X 419 must be an inadvertent error, as there are only nine volumes of record, not including the sentencing phase.

Secondly, and most importantly, Appellant has completely ignored the actual instructions to the jury, in making his allegations that the jury was not instructed that they had to find that the Appellant actually killed or intended to kill the victim. Again, for this Court's convenience, Appellee has set out the trial court's instructions to the jury in the guilt phase on the issue of Appellant's liability for first degree murder. The Court instructed the jury as follows:

I instruct you that Murder in the First Degree is the unlawful killing of a human being, when perpetrated from a premeditated design to effect the death of the person killed or any human being; or when committed by a person engaged in the perpetration of, or in the attempt to perpetrate, any arson, involuntary sexual battery, robbery, burglary, kidnapping, aircraft piracy, or the unlawful throwing, placing or discharging of a destructive device or bomb, or which resulted from the unlawful distribution of heroin by a person over the proximate cause of death of the user.

A 'premeditated design' to kill is a fully-formed conscious purpose to take human life, formed upon reflection and present in the mind at the time of the killing. The law does not fix the exact period of time which must pass between the formation of the intent to kill, and the carrying out of the intent. It may only be a short time, and yet make the killing premeditated, if the fixed intent to kill was formed long enough before the actual killing to permit some reflection on the part of the person forming it; and that person was, at the time of carrying out that intent, fully conscious of a settled and fixed purpose to kill, and

of the results which would follow such killing.

(SR. 9-10)

* * *

To summarize: The essential elements of an unlawful homicide which must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt in this case before there can be a conviction of any offense are that: Number one, that Phillip A. Black and/ or Donald Robert Irwin, are, in fact, dead; and in this homicide instruction, I am taking the first two counts together, because there is no sense in my going back and saying the same thing as to Count II, as I say as to Count I; number two, the death was caused by the act of the defendant; number three, the killing was wrongful and by the means stated in the indictment; and number four, the killing was neither justifiable nor excusable homicide, as these terms have been defined for you.

If these elements are established, then it will be necessary for you to determine the degree of the unlawful homicide.

As to first degree, if the defendant, in killing the deceased, acted from a premeditated design to effect the death of the deceased, or was engaged in the perpetration of, or in the attempt to perpetrate, any arson, involuntary sexual battery, robbery, burglary, kidnapping, aircraft piracy, or the unlawful throwing placing or discharging of a destructive device or bomb, or which resulted from the unlawful distribution of heroin by a person over the age of eighteen years, when such drug is proven to be the proximate cause of the death of the user, he should be found guilty of Murder in the First Degree.

(SR. 14-15) (emphasis added)

*

* *

The trial court then gave the most important instruction, which is pertinent to this issue:

I instruct you, ladies and gentlemen, that a person may commit a crime by his own personal act, or through the act or acts of another person. Any person who knowingly aids, abets, counsels, hires, or otherwise procures the commission of a crime, is equally guilty with the one who actually performs a criminal act, whether he is or is not present at the commission of the offense.

However, for one person to be guilty of a crime physically committed by another, it is necessary that he have a conscious intent that the criminal act shall be done; and pursuant to that intent, he do some act or say some word which was intended to, and which did, incite, cause, encourage, assist or induce another person to actually commit the crime.

(SR. 17) (emphasis added)

There were thus, only three ways under which the jury could have returned verdicts of guilty of first degree murder. Under the instructions, the jury could have found that the Appellant, himself, committed the murders in a premeditated fashion. Secondly, the jury could have found that the Appellant, himself, committed the murders while engaged in the pertetration of the robbery. Thirdly, the jury could have found that someone else had actually done the shooting, but that Appellant had a conscious intent that the killing be done, and pursuant to that intent, he did some act or said some word which was intended to, and which did incite, cause, encourage, assist or induce such other person to actually commit the crime. Therefore, contrary

to the Appellant's assertions, the jury by its verdict, made a finding that Appellant himself, killed the officers, attempted to kill the officers, or intended that a killing take place.

It is these jury instructions, specifically the instruction requiring the jury to find that if the acts were committed by another person, that Appellant have the conscious intent that the act be done, and pursuant to that act he did something to aide or assist the other person, that differentiates the instant case from those Fifth Circuit cases which have vacated the death penalty on the basis of Enmund v. Florida, See, e.g., Bullock v. Lucas, 743 So.2d 244 (5th Cir. supra. 1984); Jones v. Thigpen, 741 So. 2d 805 (5th Cir. 1984); Reddix v. Thigpen, 728 So.2d 705 (5th Cir.) on rehearing 732 So.2d 494 (5th Cir. 1984); Clark v. Louisiana State Penitentiary, 694 So. 2d 75 (5th Cir. 1982); Bell v. Watkins, 692 So. 2d 999 (5th Cir. 1982). The instant case is more akin to that of Skillern v. Estelle, 720 So.2d 839 (5th Cir. 1983), in which the Fifth Circuit found no violation of the principles enunciated by Enmund where the jury was instructed during the sentencing phase that it had to find whether the

In each of these cases, the court held that where the jury instructions, which did not require a finding of personal intent to kill, might have led the jury to believe it could impute the intent of the defendant's accomplice, who actually committed the murder to the defendant, in violation of Enmund v. Florida, supra, the death sentences could not stand. As stated supra, this is not the case sub judice.

defendants' conduct caused the death of the deceased deliberately and with reasonable expectation that the death of the deceased or another would result. 720 So.2d at 847-848.

The fact that the jury returned a "general verdict" does not mean that Appellant cannot lawfully receive a death sentence under Enmund. See Drake v. Francis, 727 So.2d 990, 997 (11th Cir. 1984). Thus, where, as in the instant case, the jury was properly instructed and there is abundant evidence to establish that Appellant was, unlike Enmund, a present, and active participant in the murders, death is an appropriate penalty. Here, not only did Rhodes testify that Appellant fired shots, but as this Court stated on direct appeal:

Tafero challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to convict him of murder, but the evidence against him is overwhelming. In addition to the eyewitness' testimony, bullets removed from the victims match the gun in Tafero's possession at his arrest. We do not accept Tafero's contention that Rhodes' testimony was unbelievable in that Rhodes' testimony is corroborated by both the physical evidence and the other eyewitnesses' testimony. Additionally, both truck drivers noticed Rhodes' hands in the air when the first shots were fired. The evidence shows beyond a reasonable doubt that Tafero is guilty of the premeditated murder of both Irwin and Black.

Thus, Appellant's reliance on <u>Zant v. Stephens</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 103 S.Ct. 2733, 77 L.Ed.2d 235 (1983) is without support.

Tafero v. State, 403 So.2d 355, 359 (Fla. 1981). Thus, there was overwhelming evidence to show not only that Appellant actually committed the acts, but contemplated that lives would be taken when he acted as an aider and abetter. See Smith v. State, 424 So.2d 726, 733 (Fla. 1982); Hall v. State, 420 So.2d 872, 874 (Fla. 1982); Ruffin v. State, 420 So.2d 591, 594 (Fla. 1982). See also Hall v. Wainwright, 733 So.2d 766 (11th Cir. 1984); Ross v. Hopper, 716 So.2d 1528 (11th Cir. 1983).

b. The penalty phase instructions were not wrong in allowing the jury to recommend the death penalty under circumstance prohibited by <u>Enmund v. Florida</u>, <u>supra</u>.

Appellant alleges that the jury instructions which were given to the jury were wrong as they allowed the jury to recommend the death penalty in violation of the circumstances prohibited by Enmund v. Florida, supra. Appellee submits that Appellant's contentions are without merit.

First, it must be reiterated that in the instant case, before the jury could even find the Appellant guilty of first degree murder, pursuant to the Court's jury instructions, it had to find that Appellant, himself, killed, attempted to kill, or intended that a killing take place. Secondly, allowing the

jury to consider the degree of a defendant's participation in the offense as a mitigating circumstance is not only proper, but under the dictates of <u>Lockett v. Ohio</u>, 438 U.S. 586 (1978), it is required.

Thirdly, in Enmund v. Florida, supra, the Supreme Court itself implicitely approved jury instructions which, allowed as a mitigating circumstance that the defendant was an accomplice in the offense committed by another person and his participation was relatively minor. In Enmund, the Supreme Court in its review of state death penalty statutes, discussed these circumstances. The Court noted that six states made it a statutory mitigating circumstance that the defendant was an accomplice in a capital felony committed by another person and his participation was relatively minor. The Supreme Court recognized that by making mininal participation in a capital felony committed by another person a mitigating circumstance, these sentencing statutes reduced the likelihood that a person will be executed for vicarious felony murder. The Court noted that in these states, a nontriggerman guilty of felony murder cannot be sentenced to death for the felony murder absent aggravating circumstances above and beyond the felony murder itself. 458 U.S. at 792.

The Appellee submits that the jury instructions given in the instant case during the penalty phase did not violate the dictates of Enmund. Although, the instructions allow the jury to consider whether the aggravating circumstances present outweigh a defendant's minor participation in the offense, the instructions do not authorize the jury to recommend death solely

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